

# Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering The New Age of Cell-Free Biology

## Vincent Noireaux<sup>1</sup> and Allen P. Liu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55455, USA; email: noireaux@umn.edu

<sup>2</sup>Departments of Mechanical Engineering, Biomedical Engineering, Biophysics, and the Cellular and Molecular Biology Program, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109, USA; email: allenliu@umich.edu

Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2020. 22:51-77

The Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering is online at bioeng.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-bioeng-092019-111110

Copyright © 2020 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

bottom-up synthetic biology, synthetic cell, cell-free transcription-translation, self-assembly

#### Abstract

The cell-free molecular synthesis of biochemical systems is a rapidly growing field of research. Advances in the Human Genome Project, DNA synthesis, and other technologies have allowed the in vitro construction of biochemical systems, termed cell-free biology, to emerge as an exciting domain of bioengineering. Cell-free biology ranges from the molecular to the cell-population scales, using an ever-expanding variety of experimental platforms and toolboxes. In this review, we discuss the ongoing efforts undertaken in the three major classes of cell-free biology methodologies, namely protein-based, nucleic acids-based, and cell-free transcription– translation systems, and provide our perspectives on the current challenges as well as the major goals in each of the subfields.



## Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	52
2.	PROTEIN-BASED SYSTEMS	54
	2.1. The Cytoskeleton	54
	2.2. The Min System	57
	2.3. The Circadian Clock and the Mitotic Oscillator	57
	2.4. Membrane Sculpting Proteins	58
3.	NUCLEIC ACID SYSTEMS	58
	3.1. DNA Strand Displacement and Binding	59
	3.2. DNA Origami and Nanostructures	60
	3.3. Translation-Free Circuits	61
4.	CELL-FREE TRANSCRIPTION-TRANSLATION SYSTEMS	62
	4.1. Harnessing Gene Expression In Vitro	62
	4.2. Batch Mode Transcription–Translation in Cell-Free Biology	65
	4.3. Transcription-Translation-Based Synthetic Cell Systems	66
5.	CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES	68

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Constructing biochemical systems outside living organisms is becoming a major multidisciplinary research area in the postgenomic era. At the technical level, assembling biochemical systems in experimental environments characterized by a reduced background enables the construction of biological systems in isolation, offering in vitro models with more quantitative control than in vivo ones. The physical and biochemical scalability of these systems allows for unparalleled control over reaction conditions. Building biological systems that are unlikely to reproduce or escape provides a high degree of safety. Finally, the enthusiasm for cell-free biology relies on a biomolecular toolbox that has become highly accessible and is rapidly expanding (1, 2). Besides the technical aspects, recapitulating biological systems in vitro by molecular assembly, either using proteins or by executing DNA programs, holds great promise as a means to explore and unravel the fundamental rules of living systems. Cell-free biology constitutes a novel approach to understanding biological systems because it aims to explore how to synthesize new biological systems unconstrained from their natural biological limits by harnessing and controlling biological matter. Cell-free environments are also adequate for interfacing synthetic components with natural ones. Modular approaches have been developed to build sophisticated biomolecular processes in test tubes, on microfluidic chips, and in liposomes that provide ample opportunities for fundamental research beyond pure engineering perspectives.

The goal of cell-free biology is to bridge the parts to construct the whole. Biology ranges across spatial scales that span many orders of magnitude. Research in cell-free biology is being done at the molecular, cellular, and population levels, with each level increasing in its degree of complexity (**Figure 1***a*). Discovering biological systems through construction in cell-free settings is generally performed at three levels of composition of informational molecules: proteins, nucleic acids, and transcription-translation (TXTL) systems (**Figure 1***b*). Each of these systems seeks to leverage a different facet of the central dogma of molecular biology outside of living organisms. Interestingly, the motivations and backgrounds necessary for working in these three research areas are remarkably different and complementary. The protein-only method is largely

#### 52 Noireaux • Liu

A

R





## Figure 1

(*a*) Efforts in cell-free biology range from the molecular to the cellular to the population level, with complexity increasing at each level. (*b*) Cell-free biology is founded on three primary systems: protein-based, nucleic acid-based, and transcription–translation (TXTL)-based. Each of these systems is compatible with different spatial scales.

inspired by and based on pregenomic research in cytoskeleton biophysics, enzymology, and single molecules. Nucleic acid cell-free research has been stimulated by computer scientists to a large extent (3, 4), and coupling translation-free circuits to DNA nanotechnology opens the door to a whole class of synthetic systems (5, 6). The TXTL branch of cell-free biology has been mostly developed by engineers and synthetic biologists (7, 8). In recent years, DNA-dependent in vitro

www.annualreviews.org • The New Age of Cell-Free Biology 53





#### Figure 2

Timeline of salient work during the past 20 years on cell-free biology, with examples from protein-based, nucleic acids-based, and transcription–translation (TXTL)-based systems.

protein production has been reshaped into a versatile and popular technology, accommodating an ever-growing variety of applications (9).

During the past 20 years, each of the three cell-free biology approaches has demonstrated a high potential for making fundamental advances in our comprehension of biological mechanisms (**Figure 2**). The major barrier to moving forward remains a problem of integrating biomolecular mechanisms into larger and more elaborate systems so as to truly understand how complexity arises when molecules are put together, to identify the cooperative links between molecular machineries, and to grasp how robustness in biochemical systems arises. Assembling synthetic cells addresses many of these questions and motivations because it elucidates the information-metabolism-compartment global picture of unicellular life (10–12). Furthermore, working directly at the length scale of a cell is relevant at the biophysical level, especially when considering diffusion or self-organization processes (2, 13). It is not surprising that major research initiatives are being undertaken to enable the bottom-up synthesis of cell analogs. In this article, we review the key advances in cell-free biology. We organize the review by looking at the three major cell-free systems, and we include examples of work at different physical scales, ranging from molecular to network to cellular and multicellular, with the focus primarily on the synthetic cell-level systems.

## 2. PROTEIN-BASED SYSTEMS

Early reconstitution approaches have mainly been focused on proteins, as they can be synthesized recombinantly or isolated from various tissue sources. Biochemical reconstitution seeks to identify the minimum set of components both necessary and sufficient to recreate a biological process or phenomenon (1). This approach has produced tremendous insights into basic mechanisms (14). More importantly, self-assembly and self-organization of tiny molecular parts that give rise to large-scale cellular structures and coordinated movement provide a rich avenue for discovering how behaviors emerge (15).

## 2.1. The Cytoskeleton

The cytoskeleton is perhaps the most widely studied system in the bottom-up assembly of synthetic cells. The shape of a living cell is governed by the interaction between the membrane and

#### 54 Noireaux • Liu





internal cytoskeleton, networks that consist of actin, microtubules, and intermediate filaments. The dynamic arrangement of the actin cytoskeleton is the cornerstone of a wide range of cellular behaviors, including embryogenesis, cell migration, and wound healing. Dynamic microtubules in the form of a bipolar array of mitotic spindles underlie the proper distribution of genetic materials between two daughter cells. Motor protein kinesins and dyneins, as well as a host of microtubule-associated proteins, regulate microtubule dynamics and functions. The cellular reconstitution of cytoskeleton networks from component parts may reveal how mechanical forces organize life from molecules to cells and tissues (16). For the purpose of this section, we define protein-based systems as both purified proteins and cell-free lysates (i.e., without the flow of genetic information).

**2.1.1.** The actin cytoskeleton. Earlier work on liposome encapsulation of actin monomers under conditions that promoted their subsequent polymerization showed liposomes deforming into dumbbell or disc shapes (17). A major advance in actin biochemistry was achieved when Loisel et al. (18) demonstrated reconstitution of the actin-based motility of *Listeria* using purified proteins that assembled into a dynamic dendritic actin network. Reconstituted dendritic actin networks on the surface of giant unilamellar vesicles (GUVs) revealed a dynamic interplay between actin networks and membrane organization (19), as well as the unexpected discovery that filopodium-like protrusions can spontaneously emerge from a dendritic actin network (20). It was shown recently that a branched actin network on a GUV is sufficient to initiate both inward and outward membrane deformation, depending on membrane tension (21).

In addition to reconstituting a minimal actin cortex on supported lipid bilayers (22–24), major efforts in recent years have focused on encapsulating actin networks in vesicles or emulsion droplets with distinct compositions and organization (25–28), and there has been particular interest in reconstituting cortical actin networks (29). If there is a strongly anchored cortex, myosin motors contract the cortex toward the membrane, whereas a weakly anchored cortex detaches from the membrane with myosin contraction (30). Symmetry breaking of reconstituted cortical actin networks in *Xenopus* extract in droplets depends on actin network connectivity (31, 32). More recently, individual symmetric actomyosin cluster vibrations, due to nonisotropic ATP consumption, have been proposed to explain the emergence of the large-scale, directional motion of actomyosin clusters (33). Weiss et al. (34) used a high-throughput microfluidic method combined with electroinjection to introduce biomolecules into GUVs, devising a strategy to reconstitute cytoskeleton proteins, including actin filaments, in vesicles with enhanced stability. In the future, it will be interesting to develop methods for spatially controlling actomyosin networks to see how spatial variations can be coupled to morphological changes in a synthetic cell context.

**2.1.2. Microtubules.** It was reported more than 20 years ago that a homogeneous solution of microtubules and kinesins confined in a microfabricated glass chamber self-organized into dynamic asters that turned into vortices (35). It was shown that the final patterns of self-organization depended on the initial kinesin concentration and the size of the chamber, and they depended less on the shape of the chamber. By adsorbing microtubule filaments at a high concentration within a lipid vesicle, a nematic (i.e., with aligned filaments) film can be observed. The inclusion of molecular motors led to an active nematic system with topological defects and different dynamic states (36), highlighting the spatial complexity that can arise from microtubule and motor interaction on a membrane surface.

Kinesins can organize microtubules and also govern their dynamics. The dynamic instability of reconstituted microtubules is comparatively slower (both in terms of polymerization and transit rate) than the physiological dynamics. By adding microtubule-stabilizing protein XMAP215 and the microtubule-destabilizing kinesin XKCM1, Kinoshita et al. (37) reconstituted physiological



microtubule dynamics that exhibited fast polymerization and high catastrophe rates in microtubule asters. A bipolar spindle has both polar (i.e., aster-like) and nematic microtubule networks, which are exclusively associated with, respectively, minus- and plus-end-directed microtubule cross-linking motors. Interestingly, by tuning the growth dynamics of microtubules, either minusor plus-end-directed motors can produce both types of networks, suggesting the importance of the dynamic properties of microtubules (38). It was further shown that the microtubule-motor network organization is determined by two control parameters: the ratio of the number of motors to the number of microtubules and the ratio of microtubule growth speed to motor speed. The coexistence of a central nematic network with two polar networks in a bipolar spindle structure likely requires balanced motor activities and localized microtubule nucleation. Other recent in vitro reconstitution efforts have examined how microtubules could generate forces on chromatids while connected to the kinetochore. Multivalency of the NDC80 (nuclear division cycle 80) complex and its interaction with the Ska complex have been shown to be important for efficient end-on coupling of microtubules to the kinetochore (39, 40).

As with the reconstitution of actin networks, *Xenopus* egg extract is a powerful experimental cell-free platform for studying microtubule assembly and organization. By encapsulating DNA and *Xenopus* extract in emulsion droplets of different sizes, Good et al. (41) and Hazel et al. (42) analyzed the scaling of spindle size with droplet size and found that spindle size is set by cytoplasmic volume. Without DNA, microtubule bundle elongation induces large-scale, directed rotational flow in *Xenopus* extract depleted of dynein function in cell-sized droplets (43), reminiscent of the structures organized from purified microtubules discussed earlier.

Despite the fact that the reconstitution of both microtubule and actin networks leads to largescale flow patterns and this underscores the fascinating nature of active matter, one should keep in mind that different cytoskeletal polymers interact in living cells to orchestrate complex cellular morphological changes. Although not reviewed here, both septins and intermediate filaments are well conserved in eukaryotic cells and have been reconstituted (15). The interaction between different reconstituted cytoskeletal networks, for instance, between actin and a microtubule cytoskeleton (15, 44), will be an important direction for future research.

**2.1.3.** Par and MreB. Prokaryotes possess a cytoskeleton just like eukaryotes do. Bacterial DNA segregating systems use three components from the *par* operon to accomplish the segregation of the R1 drug-resistance plasmid. The centromeric sequence of *parC* together with adapter protein ParR constitute the ParR-parC complex that interacts with ParM, a distant homolog of actin, which polymerizes into helical filaments. The reconstitution of ParM polymerization has revealed that ParM exhibits dynamic instability, similar to the behavior observed in eukaryotic microtubules, in which filament ends bound by ParR-parC are stabilized, and free filament ends undergo catastrophe (45). Another active partitioning system uses the Walker-type ATPase ParA, which is responsible for segregating chromosomes and plasmids in most bacterial cells. Using a DNA-carpeted flow cell as an artificial nucleoid, insights into ParA-mediated partition of the plasmid were gained by reconstituting ParB-stimulated ATP hydrolysis of ParA, which detaches ParA from the DNA carpet (46). To our knowledge, the encapsulation of Par systems has not been reported. MreB, another actin homolog, is essential for maintaining the rod shape of many bacteria. and MreB filaments move around the rod circumference instead of in a longitudinal direction. It was recently demonstrated that MreB encapsulated in small liposomes (<1  $\mu$ m) can tubulate liposomes and align in the circumferential direction (47).

**2.1.4.** FtsZ. FtsZ is a tubulin homolog and is the main component of the bacterial Z ring that guides cell division. Using an engineered FtsZ membrane-targeting sequence that bypasses the

<sup>56</sup> Noireaux • Liu



IR I

actin-related protein FtsA for membrane binding, Osawa et al. (48) demonstrated that in tubular liposomes FtsZ could form a Z ring and generate constriction if it was directly tethered to the membrane. When reconstituted in giant vesicles of bacterial inner membrane lipids, FtsA was found to localize to the membrane surface, but it unexpectedly disassociated in the presence of an FtsZ polymer (49), presumably due to the low density of the filaments. Subsequently, selforganization of FtsA and FtsZ polymers on supported membranes into fast-moving filament bundles and chirally rotating rings was demonstrated (50). This phenomenon could be explained by the bundling and treadmilling of curved, dynamic FtsZ filaments. Further study revealed that the FtsZ membrane-targeting sequence could also self-organize into dynamic rotating rings without the membrane adaptor FtsA when the protein surface density was high (51). The process also depends on the concentrations of nucleotide and free magnesium ions. Interestingly, the chirality of the rotating FtsZ ring can be switched from clockwise to counterclockwise, depending on whether the membrane-targeting sequence is placed at the C or N terminus. Altogether, these studies point to a minimal filament system that when reconstituted at high density at the membrane, can harness self-organization to develop chiral vortices for membrane deformation.

#### 2.2. The Min System

In order for *Escherichia coli* to accurately form a division ring, an oscillatory pattern in the Min system (consisting of MinC, MinD, and MinE) is required from pole to pole to position the bacterial Z ring to guide cell division (52). Briefly, MinD, another Walker-type ATPase, regulates the position of the FtsZ ring by controlling the localization of MinC, an FtsZ inhibitor. MinE is the master regulator of MinD–membrane interaction and functions by stimulating the hydrolysis of ATP-bound MinD dimers. MinC follows the movement of MinD and is not required for the oscillation. The reconstitution of the dynamics of MinD and MinE to generate oscillatory patterns, similar to their in vivo behavior, was vividly captured in 2008 by the reconstitution of MinD–MinE planar surface waves on a supported lipid bilayer (53), and other dynamic patterns have also been observed (54).

Moving away from planar-supported lipid bilayers to more controlled boundary conditions, microfabricated wells of different geometries and microfluidic chips have been used to further interrogate the pattern formation and reaction–diffusion mechanisms of pole-to-pole oscillation of MinD–MinE (55, 56). Recently, the reconstitution of MinD–MinE oscillation in GUVs was achieved (57). By encapsulating MinD and MinE into GUVs, Litschel et al. (57) observed periodic relocation of Min proteins between the lumen and the membrane, with several distinct spatiotemporal patterns (i.e., pulsing, pole-to-pole oscillation, circling, and trigger waves). Interestingly, when osmotically deflated, the GUVs became deformed in concert with the Min oscillations. It will be truly amazing when the holy grail of reconstituting Min oscillations coupling to FtsZ assembly and constriction becomes a reality.

## 2.3. The Circadian Clock and the Mitotic Oscillator

Oscillation between different biochemical states is a universal phenomenon frequently found in natural biological systems. As a model system, the circadian oscillation of the gene expression of cyanobacteria is controlled by three essential circadian clock proteins (i.e., KaiA, KaiB, and KaiC) within a gene cluster. Self-sustaining and ATP-dependent oscillation of KaiC phosphorylation and dephosphorylation has been reconstituted in vitro (58). The spontaneous oscillation cycle of KaiC phosphorylation, reconstituted using purified KaiABC proteins, is affected by light–dark cycles of



different day lengths by a midday tracking mechanism, which is simulated by an externally imposed metabolic rhythm accomplished by altering the ratio of ATP to ADP (59).

Another notable example of biological oscillation is the progression of the cell cycle. Using a water-in-oil emulsion encapsulating *Xenopus* cytoplasmic extract as artificial cells, Guan et al. (60) recently succeeded in reconstituting mitotic oscillation for more than 30 cycles over 4 days. The cell cycle oscillator consists of coupled positive and negative feedback loops that govern the central cell cycle regulator, the cyclin B1–Cdk1 complex. Once the cyclin B1–Cdk1 complex is activated, the circuit drives chromosome condensation, nuclear envelope breakdown, and the degradation of securin (a substrate of the anaphase-promoting complex). The frequency and number of cycles are triggered and tunable by the addition of cyclin B1 mRNA, and the authors demonstrated the spontaneous oscillation is size dependent such that smaller droplets had slower oscillations with a larger variance in the periods. This study further highlights the fact that bulk cell-free (protein-based) systems lack the essential single-cell information necessary to reveal heterogeneity in out-of-steady-state dynamics.

## 2.4. Membrane Sculpting Proteins

The generation of membrane curvature is an active means to create vesicular structures that underlies vesicle budding and membrane trafficking (61), and many membrane-interacting proteins, particularly those with roles in endocytic trafficking, are capable of sculpting membranes. Using a supported bilayer system with an extra membrane reservoir, it was shown that dynamin alone can mediate membrane fission in the constant presence of GTP (62). The budding of GUVs by clathrin and the adaptor protein epsin has been reconstituted, with the degree of membrane deformation found to depend on membrane tension (63). The endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT)-III is required for membrane remodeling in numerous cellular processes, including multivesicular body biogenesis, abscission, and viral budding. ESCRT-III-dependent budding and scission of intraluminal vesicles in GUVs has also been reconstituted (64). More recently, the main ESCRT-III component, Snf7, was shown to polymerize into spirals and induce the deformation of GUVs (65), and that encapsulation of the core ESCRT-III proteins together with Vps4 led to scission of the membrane tube in an ATP-dependent manner (66). Although not related to membrane sculpting, there is significant interest in reconstituting the enzymatic pathways for lipid synthesis in the context of synthetic cells. The pathway for phospholipid synthesis, with fatty acids as precursors, is well established and has been reconstituted in vitro with purified proteins (67), and a minimal pathway for phospholipid synthesis has also been recently devised and demonstrated (68).

## **3. NUCLEIC ACID SYSTEMS**

In comparison to protein-based systems in cell-free biology, in which the de novo generation of completely functional proteins remains a holy grail, the construction of diverse sets of DNA nanostructures based on programmed hybridization of complementary strands is relatively well developed. This is due in large part to the specificity and predictability of Watson–Crick base-pairing, making DNA a versatile material for nanoscale engineering. Two mechanisms, DNA strand displacement and the folding of scaffold DNA by staple strands, have been used to create a range of DNA-based nanodevices and nanostructures. Several developments from structural and dynamic DNA nanotechnology have had an impact on cell-free biology in the context of synthetic cells,





#### Figure 3

R

DNA origamis that interface with lipid bilayer membranes. (*a*, *top*) DNA membrane channel formed by 54 double-helical DNA domains. Orange ellipsoids indicate cholesterol-modified oligonucleotides, and red denotes transmembrane stem. (*a*, *bottom*) Transmission electron microscopy images of a purified DNA channel. Panel *a* adapted with permission from Reference 84. (*b*) One-dimensional liposome array made from templated liposome formed from DNA cages. Panel *b* adapted with permission from Reference 87. (*c*, *left*) Structure of origami Q (quarter) that mimics the shape of F-BAR domain proteins. (*c*, *right*) Vesicles covered by moderately curved structure Q3 that are under hyperosmotic stress have long tubular structures. Panel *c* adapted with permission from Reference 88.

especially in terms of DNA devices that interact with lipid bilayer membranes and functionally mimic proteins (**Figure 3**). Equally important, translation-free molecular toolboxes have been developed to program complex dynamic systems in vitro without relying on the synthesis of proteins by ribosomes.

## 3.1. DNA Strand Displacement and Binding

Although the basic design of DNA is simple, the well-controlled base-pairing has enabled researchers to use DNA strands to manipulate the spatial and temporal assembly of DNA into twoand three-dimensional (3-D) objects of varying complexity that mimic functions that are normally found in protein systems. Dynamic DNA assembly using strand displacement is required to synthesize such molecular machines. Two DNA strands that are partially or fully hybridized to each other can displace one or more prehybridized strands. Strand displacement can be initiated at



complementary single-stranded domains, known as toeholds, and this mechanism underlies many dynamic DNA devices. For instance, a bipedal DNA walker that advances arm over arm on a DNA track (similar to how kinesin walks on a microtubule) has been demonstrated (69). The walker is fueled by the external addition of attachment and displacement strands. An autonomous bipedal DNA motor that cyclically catalyzes the hybridization of a metastable DNA fuel strand was later shown (70). Another example of a synthetic DNA molecular motor inspired by the actin-based motility of *Rickettsia rickettsii* used DNA strands to propel the motor and powered it by DNA hybridization (71).

The complementarity of DNA strands provides a convenient approach for facilitating binding between two surfaces. Using DNA-coated oil-in-water emulsion droplets and a stranddisplacement strategy, a sequentially self-assembled structure with a defined assembly sequence was achieved (72). While such a programmable control scheme could potentially be useful for spatially arranging different types of synthetic cells, DNA-mediated adhesion would not require strand displacement. DNA tethers can freely diffuse on a lipid bilayer and be used to link lipid vesicles. Interestingly, a pair of DNA-linked GUVs exhibited negative thermal expansion—that is, reducing the temperature decreased the adhesion area (due to the contraction of GUVs), while the distance between the centers of a typical pair of DNA-linked GUVs increased (73). This effect can be extended to a network of DNA-linked GUVs in which the temperature can tune the porosity of the vesicle network, with higher porosity at lower temperatures.

Finally, DNA can serve as a structural material or be used for molecular communication in an artificial cell. Kurokawa et al. (74) constructed an artificial cytoskeleton based on three DNA oligomers that form a Y motif and have sticky ends that subsequently assemble into a network by annealing of the ends. The resulting DNA nanostructure that associates with positively charged membranes in a liposome mimics the function of an actin cortex and increases the stability of the artificial cell. DNA-based communication between synthetic protocells has also been reported. Protocells encapsulating DNA gate complexes can sense, process, and secrete short singlestranded DNA via toehold-mediated strand displacement (75). Although DNA nanostructures have successfully replicated certain protein machineries, their rates of assembly, dynamic control, and interfacing with natural components have room for improvement compared with the proteins that they try to mimic, and this presents opportunities for future research.

## 3.2. DNA Origami and Nanostructures

In 2006, Rothemund (76) introduced a one-pot method for using many short, single strands of DNA to direct the folding of a long single-stranded DNA (using viral DNA) into desired shapes, which he called DNA origami. Scaffolded DNA origami has produced a number of interesting nanostructures that may have utility in synthetic cells beyond demonstrating the complexity of nanostructures constructed from DNA building blocks. DNA double helices can be constrained to a 2-D planar or 3-D honeycomb arrangement (77) using staple-strand crossovers that bridge the scaffold at, respectively, 180° or 240° angles. By inserting or deleting base pairs from the numbers of base pairs that separate the adjacent locations of strand crossovers between neighboring helices, it is possible to introduce bending of the DNA bundle, which can lead to right- and left-handed twists, as well as to globally bent structures without a global twist (78). DNA nanostructures can also be engineered to self-assemble without using base-pairing by using shape complementarity (79, 80), similar to how protein–protein and protein–DNA/RNA binding works. This mechanism utilizes short-range nucleotide base stacking, and filaments and lattices can be produced. Furthermore, multistate, reconfigurable DNA devices that can change conformation depending on the ionic condition have been demonstrated (81). In addition to folding a long single-stranded

60 Noireaux • Liu



scaffold, many individual DNA bricks can be designed to assemble in a completely scaffold-free manner (82, 83). These strands comprise a set of pixels in 2-D or voxels in 3-D, which allow for the assembly of highly complex structures by selecting a subset of components.

In the context of synthetic cells constructed using de novo building blocks, DNA origami has provided a unique approach, particularly with respect to interactions with the lipid bilayer membrane. Langecker et al. (84) reported a transmembrane channel made by self-assembled, scaffolded DNA origami. The DNA nanochannel was anchored to the membrane by 26 cholesterol moieties, and it exhibited nanosiemens (nS) conductivity (84) (Figure 3a), similar to the conductivity of a bacterial mechanosensitive channel. More recently, a 6-nm diameter megadalton DNA origami porin was created (85). Also using cholesterol-based membrane anchoring, the nanopore was inserted in the bilayer and had approximately 40 nS conductance. In addition to being used as membrane channels, DNA origami can also shape or template liposomes. Yang et al. (86) created a DNA origami ring with handles on the inner side that can hybridize to a lipidated antihandle. Once hybridized, extra lipid and detergent are added, and the detergent is slowly dialyzed out to yield liposomes with defined and homogeneous sizes templated by the DNA origami ring. Besides using DNA origami to make spherical liposomes, DNA rings can also be connected together as a DNA cage for the formation and remodeling of liposomes with more complex shapes. This was impressively demonstrated by Zhang et al. (87) who fused liposome arrays to yield width-defined membrane tubules (Figure 3b) and to generate toroidal and helical liposomes. Such DNA-templated liposomes can be reconfigured by strand displacement to bend a lipid tubule. And in addition to globally shaping liposomes, DNA origami structures have also been designed to remodel membranes in a manner similar to BAR (Bin/amphiphysin/Rvs) proteins (88) (Figure 3c). BAR-mimicking DNA origami scaffolds can deform a membrane, depending on the degree of curvature. While curvature, membrane affinity, and surface density are important in tubular membrane deformation by a DNA scaffold, curvature plays the decisive role. Another notable application of a DNA origami scaffold is for positioning enzymes in a sequence to control substrate channeling (89). Such spatially addressable DNA nanoplatforms may be useful for creating artificial multienzyme systems when designing regulatory biological circuits.

## 3.3. Translation-Free Circuits

The realization of translation-free biochemical reaction networks, sometimes coupled to the activity of molecular devices such as DNA nanostructures, constitutes another track for cell-free biology. While a broad range of computational circuits and dynamic systems can be achieved using only nucleic acids (90-92), a remarkable wealth of dynamic systems has been emulated in vitro using small sets of molecules and mechanisms that recapitulate synthesis and degradation without relying on the synthesis of peptides and proteins by ribosomes. For instance, the combination of DNA strand displacement, transcription, and RNA degradation was the first cell-free toolbox that enabled the design and execution of relatively complex, dynamic systems. Bistable (93) and oscillatory circuits (94), comparable to the ones that have been engineered through standard gene circuit motifs, have been achieved in test tube reactions. Equally important, the demonstration that this type of circuit can be carried out in cell-sized compartments (95) and used to drive the activity of DNA nanostructures (5) increases the potential of such a molecular toolbox to develop sophisticated biochemical systems. Having transcription as an active synthesis process and a ribonuclease provides more flexibility to program genetically encoded, dynamic systems than enzyme-free environments do, and it keeps the door open to including novel RNA-based regulatory tools and devices. Similar to this toolbox, the PEN (polymerase-exonuclease-nickase) DNA toolbox (96) eliminates RNA to create another translation-free in vitro environment from only three enzymes,



which can recapitulate the synthesis and degradation of DNA. The range of dynamic systems that can be accomplished with this toolbox is also impressive and includes oscillators (97) and patterns on millimeter scales (98).

The easier access to the biophysical and biochemical variables permitted by these cell-free toolboxes allows for much deeper descriptions of synthetic cell-free networks compared with circuits executed in living cells, thus providing quantitative information at the molecular level that is essential to building larger systems either in vitro or in vivo. Exploiting translation-free circuits to control the dynamics of DNA nanostructures, for instance, to mimic a cytoskeleton (6), could be an interesting method to implement in cell-sized compartments to create a completely artificial approach to developing synthetic cells.

#### 4. CELL-FREE TRANSCRIPTION-TRANSLATION SYSTEMS

TXTL systems—also referred to as in vitro transcription–translation, cell-free protein synthesis, or cell-free expression systems—are becoming one of the most convenient experimental platforms on which to build genetically programmed biochemical systems outside of living organisms. The postgenomic renaissance of TXTL is the result of critical improvements and advances achieved during the past 15 years. At the technical level, TXTL enables the synthesis of scalable quantities of proteins in just a few hours, disposing of long and sometimes complicated protein purification procedures. In this section, we describe how TXTL, at the fundamental level, has become a technology suitable for cell-free biology and has uses ranging from batch mode to cell-sized compartments (**Figure 4**); we also discuss some of the current hot spots and challenges to be addressed.

#### 4.1. Harnessing Gene Expression In Vitro

Several key advances have modernized TXTL systems to enable them to synthesize the amounts of proteins relevant for building biochemical systems. The versatility of TXTL platforms has been considerably improved at both the transcription and translation levels, expanding TXTL to larger genetic and protein territories.

**4.1.1.** Powering transcription and translation. The metabolic pathways energizing cell-free systems remain the most important consideration in TXTL, simply because they define the efficacy of a system. With the need for the equivalent of five ATPs per amino acid, translation is the most energy-demanding process in TXTL. No metrics exists to define the necessary strength of a TXTL system for specific applications. Considering that the average cytoplasmic protein concentration in a model organism such as *E. coli* is estimated to be 0.5–1  $\mu$ M (99), a protein concentration of 1 mg/mL corresponds to about 37  $\mu$ M of enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) or 16  $\mu$ M of firefly luciferase. Consequently, a TXTL system capable of concentrations of 1 mg/mL offers enough room to start programming biochemical systems made of a few genes.

Several ATP regeneration metabolic processes have been discovered to fuel TXTL up to at least 1 mg/mL (100–102), which has become a standard for commercial and custom-made *E. coli* cell-free systems. The demonstration that glycolysis can be activated in extract-based TXTL provided another method to fuel translation (103) or to increase the efficacy of existing systems (104). While the strength of cell-free systems seems to plateau at about 1.5–2 mg/mL, it is still worth optimizing TXTL metabolisms to enable the execution of larger DNA programs. To some extent, semi-continuous protein synthesis is a solution to this limitation (105). Semi-continuous devices have shown that the translation machinery is active for at least a day, which is remarkable

62 Noireaux • Liu





Cell-free transcription-translation (TXTL) systems operate at multiple length scales. TXTL mixed with metabolites and DNA can be used not only in bulk reactions at the milliliter scale but also down to pico- and femtoliter scales in encapsulated systems. The range of technologies, as well as their areas of impact, are summarized.

considering the complexity of the process. Using these fed-batch TXTL reactions, however, is not straightforward. Creating a truly easy-to-set up high-throughput continuous TXTL system would certainly be a major step forward. Otherwise, engineering strains seems to be the most promising path for increasing the productivity of TXTL systems. The recent proteomics analyses of E. coli lysates (106, 107) have provided a wealth of information that can be used to optimize strains. Other approaches, such as decreasing mRNA degradation, are meaningful solely for the purpose of producing proteins, but they are detrimental to circuit engineering because the mRNA lifetime is already too long, which results in a turnover of the synthesized transcripts that is too slow for executing complex dynamics (e.g., 20 min for eGFP mRNA) (108). A theoretical limit to cell-free protein synthesis in batch mode has been described only recently (109). Although the theoretical maximum that can be attained depends on the type of metabolic processes used to fuel TXTL, the description provides a quantitative analysis of the factors that limit cell-free protein synthesis in batch reactions (109).

**4.1.2.** Highly versatile transcription-translation systems. Until the 1990s, the optimization and utilization of TXTL systems centered on protein synthesis. With the rise of multidisciplinary

www.annualreviews.org • The New Age of Cell-Free Biology

63



research, synthetic biology in particular, TXTL has been reshaped into a multipurpose technology particularly adapted for cell-free biology. The new generation of TXTL systems exhibits an impressive catalog of applications that continues to grow (9). The versatility of TXTL has improved at several levels. The transcription, traditionally performed by bacteriophage RNA polymerases such as T7, has been broadened to a greater repertoire of regulatory elements (108, 110, 111), increasing the composability and size of the genetic programs that can be processed in vitro (112–114). The variety of proteins that can be expressed in TXTL has also been considerably widened. It is now possible to express integral membrane proteins either in batch mode reactions (115, 116) or directly in synthetic cell systems (117–120). Methods to express proteins with disulfide bridges have been reported (121), and glycosylation of eukaryotic proteins is now feasible (122, 123). The possibility of expressing proteins with unnatural amino acids through TXTL opens the door to building artificial systems (124, 125), thus expanding the capabilities of natural biological systems. Finally, the diversity of physical substrates that can host TXTL reactions further adds to the remarkable flexibility of this technology.

The field of cell-free biology would benefit from at least two major advances. First, the existence of many different cell-free platforms, with properties often poorly defined and understood, represents a bottleneck. None of these systems integrates the ideal set of capabilities (e.g., strength, transcription repertoire, control of TXTL dynamics, membrane proteins, posttranslational modification). Although ambitious, devising a universal platform would provide the community using this technology with the ultimate tool. Second, the reproducibility of TXTL preparations and reactions remains a challenge, even for well-established systems such as *E. coli*. Variability has also been observed between different batches for most of the commercial kits (126). Different methods are employed for custom-made TXTL systems, resulting in a wide array of systems and performance. Automation seems to offer solutions that could reduce variability (127). Standardizing procedures and protocols would also help the field reduce the rather large variability observed in reported results, especially if training and educational modules were provided.

**4.1.3. Transcription-translation platforms from diverse organisms.** The knowledge gained from TXTL prepared from *E. coli* cells, which is still the most-used and versatile system, serves as a solid heritage on which to develop TXTL platforms from other organisms, especially from bacteria. Several TXTL systems from microorganisms have been reported recently (128–131). However, it is not clear yet what new capabilities these alternative TXTL systems will provide. The availability of eukaryotic-based TXTL is also on the rise (132–134). The major advantage of several of these kits is that they allow for post-translational modifications, such as glycosylation, that are essential for the activity of many proteins found in higher organisms. The plant-based, high-yield ALiCE kit (LenioBio), which uses T7 transcription and recently became available, represents a major step in terms of protein production strength (i.e., 3 mg/mL).

On the one hand, the number of TXTL systems that are now available offers a larger catalog for constructing biochemical systems in vitro. On the other hand, understanding the real capabilities of each system is a challenge, as almost all of these systems are still poorly characterized quantitatively, and their basic working principles are not well understood.

**4.1.4. Transcription-translation as an educational platform.** Much of the success of TXTL as a highly practical system for cell-free biology relies on its fast set up and execution. For this reason, TXTL has become a handy experimental platform for education and discovery in synthetic biology, in the form of teaching modules (135); short, intensive courses (e.g., the Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory course on synthetic biology); and kits (136). These teaching materials and

64 Noireaux • Liu



opportunities increase the accessibility of TXTL technology. More importantly, they provide information about and practice in learning the skills necessary for performing TXTL experiments.

#### 4.2. Batch Mode Transcription–Translation in Cell-Free Biology

Constructing and programming biological systems using TXTL can be done on a remarkable range of physical scales. Although working in cell-sized compartments is the current trend, a lot of work can be done in batch mode reactions at the microliter scale. This approach has two advantages: (*a*) the setup for the reaction is fast, thus accelerating the design-build-test cycle of biochemical systems, and (*b*) high throughput assays can be implemented using liquid-dispensing equipment, which is ideal for screening hundreds or thousands of reactions in a single day. As a consequence, the reproducibility and repeatability of the experiments are also greater.

**4.2.1. Building networks in transcription-translation systems.** The combination of strength and versatility has transformed TXTL into a powerful system for prototyping genetic parts and programs, which remains the major activity for batch mode TXTL reactions for both basic and applied purposes. Characterizing single regulatory parts is a well-established area that maintains solid credibility based on the excellent agreement between the performances observed in vivo and in vitro (137, 138). Elementary circuits based on the traditional set of transcription factors, including the repressors and activators LacI, TetR, and AraC (110, 139), have also been validated in TXTL. One of the most recent, compelling examples is the demonstration that CRISPR technologies can be rapidly tested in TXTL, and there is high fidelity with respect to in vivo data (140, 141). This new functionality has opened the door to engineering gene circuits, such as network motifs, that include CRISPR components (114).

A persistent limitation to constructing gene circuits in runoff TXTL reactions at constant volume is the inability to precisely control the rates of degradation, for proteins in particular. Although ideal in theory, the degradation of proteins by AAA+ proteases, such as the ClpXP complex, is not easy due to the instability of ClpX (142) and because degradation demands large amounts of ATP. For these reasons, achieving genetic oscillators in TXTL requires sophisticated semi-continuous setups (143, 144). The unavailability of simple, accurate, and quantitative models is another area that necessitates substantial work. Many working TXTL principles, such as linear regimes and, more importantly, saturated regimes arising due to resource sharing, are still not well understood.

Matching the performance of parts or circuits executed in TXTL to in vivo data is not necessary for building purely synthetic biochemical systems in test tubes. Consequently, engineering new types of transcriptional regulations that are specifically adapted for TXTL offers a real opportunity to make synthetic systems independent from living organisms. TXTL could also play a major role in developing standard biological parts (e.g., any single regulatory element, such as promoters or riboregulators) due to the gene-free background setting.

**4.2.2. Beyond circuits: recapitulating biological functions in transcription-translation systems.** In addition to testing parts or circuits, complex biological functions are being reconstructed in TXTL that do not require cell-sized compartments. Interestingly, most of these functions contribute to the future assembly of a bottom-up synthetic cell and address challenges captured in the information-metabolism-compartment global picture (10, 11). On the information theme, the first steps in the cell-free synthesis of ribosomes have recently been taken (145). The demonstration that all ribosomal RNA can be transcribed actively is a major step, even though all of the ribosomal proteins have to be purified to assemble functional ribosomes.



This paves the way for reproducing the translation machinery directly in a TXTL reaction. The complete synthesis of several infectious bacteriophages, especially T7 and T4 coliphages, proves that large DNA programs can be executed and that complex self-assembly can be achieved in TXTL (112, 113, 146). The replication of the T7 DNA genome concurrent with phage synthesis was the first demonstration of DNA-programmed isothermal genome amplification in TXTL. Complementary to this result, a first synthetic DNA replication circuit was proposed recently to amplify linear double-stranded DNA in TXTL (147). At the compartment level, major steps have also been taken to produce membrane proteins in batches, such as in nanodiscs (116). Although not offering a real membrane, such tools facilitate the development of functions located at the membrane. There is evidence of the synthesis of lipids in TXTL, but not at a scale large enough to be observable under a microscope (148, 149). Other biosynthesis pathways, not immediately interesting for synthetic cell systems, such as violacein, have been shown in TXTL (108). Another approach to performing metabolic functions in TXTL consists of composing cell-free reactions from lysates that have been prepared from cells expressing constitutively the enzymes involved in a pathway (150). This method, geared toward applications, suggests how biochemical systems could be assembled from different lysates.

#### 4.3. Transcription–Translation-Based Synthetic Cell Systems

Using TXTL at the scale of living cells is not as easy as it is in test tubes, but it is appealing for many reasons. The reasons for compartmentalizing TXTL reactions are many, creating synthetic cells being the major leitmotif nowadays. Encapsulating cell-free reactions enables the recapitulation of biological functions in isolation on relevant physical scales, especially for diffusion mechanisms, and in a context appropriate for emulating biophysical and biochemical conditions close to the ones found in living cells. Although it is only a minor aspect, working in micrometer-sized compartments requires reaction volumes that are orders of magnitude smaller than those required in batch mode, and, therefore, it is cost effective.

**4.3.1. Types of compartments.** The variety of soft and solid microscopic compartments that can accommodate TXTL reactions is remarkable: Emulsion droplets, liposomes, polymersomes, gel particles, coacervates, microfluidics, and other solid-state chips have been successfully tested for TXTL reactions (151, 152). Two types of compartments emerge as being more advantageous and convenient for quantitative cell-free biology: microcompartments and liposomes.

Polymeric microcompartments are highly compatible with TXTL systems: Surface properties are not a problem despite the large ratio of surface area to volume; oxygenation through elastomers, necessary for most TXTL systems, occurs fast enough; high-throughput and highly parallel experiments are possible, with impressive control of the geometry. Microfluidic chips have already proven powerful for reconstituting complex, dynamic systems (143, 144, 153, 154), protein interaction networks (155), and for characterizing transcription factor binding sites (156), in addition to being effective high-throughput platforms for TXTL work geared toward biomedical applications (157, 158). Integrated microfluidics that can carry out high complexity serial and parallel processes via control of micromechanical valves could potentially extend the parallelization of TXTL testing, as protein expression from an array of more than 4,000 DNA spots on a glass substrate has been demonstrated (159). Even though it is hard to envision being able to develop properties as complex as self-reproduction, microcompartments are an ideal tool for quantitative TXTL-based cell-free biology, especially for genetically driven, dynamic systems.

Liposomes are the most commonly employed compartments because they embody the natural boundary of living cells, thus the synthesis of a self-reproducing cell can be envisioned. The

#### 66 Noireaux • Liu

IR.

possibilities of developing membrane functions and of using the biochemical and biophysical properties of the lipid bilayer are the principal advantages. Polymersomes are an emerging alternative to liposomes that provide greater mechanical robustness, which is particularly promising for developing biotechnologies (160). The encapsulation strategy depends on the type of TXTL system used and the composition of the membrane and surfactants (e.g., when using an emulsion-based method). The demonstration that elastin-like peptides when expressed in TXTL can form 200-nm diameter vesicles paves the way for lipid-free, programmable synthetic cells, and these may also be an alternative to other standard compartments (161).

**4.3.2.** Gene circuits. Sophisticated microfluidic chemostats have been fabricated to recapitulate genetically programmed, dynamic systems such as oscillators (143, 144). These chips host and keep gene circuits running for as long as 1 day. The major technical advantage is that they create an actual steady state for the synthesized proteins over long periods of time by balancing synthesis with degradation, which is emulated, respectively, by either diffusion (144) or dilution (143). This capability, which so far is not possible in batch mode reactions, provides a TXTL regime that is ideal for characterizing gene circuit dynamics in a configuration adequate for truly quantitative studies. Without such properties, constructing, running, and analyzing gene circuits over long periods of time would be intricate and hardly relevant. It is important to note that genetic oscillators, based on both transcription and translation, have not been achieved in batch mode reactions because protein degradation is not controlled and implemented well enough and because cellfree systems are not long-lived enough in runoff reactions. Multicellular TXTL-based synthetic cell systems can emulate pattern formation on millimeter scales, both in emulsion droplets (162) and on carved silicon microfluidic chips (153). The latter pioneering method for interfacing the natural protein synthesis machinery with solid-state devices could open the door to many novel applications, such as controlling cell-free gene expression by using an applied electric field (163).

Executing gene circuits in liposomes is becoming more common (118, 119, 164–168). Similar to microfluidic chips hosting multiple, interacting compartments, systems of cooperating liposomes are also being engineered. One method, based on membrane fusion of lipid vesicles, has been used to scale up the development of gene circuits in synthetic cells (167). Engineering communication between TXTL-based synthetic cells and living cells, including the use of a Turing-like test, stands out for its originality and interdisciplinary approach (169). The availability of many cell-free systems and methods for encapsulating reactions is both a bottleneck and an advantage. The advantage is that one can choose among many methods and TXTL kits. The bottleneck arises because the results obtained with a particular cell-free system and liposome preparation method may not be comparable to results obtained from other platforms and encapsulation procedures. Many of the biochemical and biophysical properties and variables of such synthetic cell systems have not been fully considered or understood. Consequently, while incredibly inspiring and exciting, the results obtained from TXTL-based synthetic cells are not generalizable. Standardization of protocols seems necessary to improve the validity and credibility of the advances made in this area.

As cell-free systems become more powerful and versatile, many fundamental questions can be addressed, such as what type of gene regulation is needed to program TXTL-based synthetic cells? What are the properties of TXTL in liposomes compared with batch mode reactions? And what is the importance of DNA physical and information compaction?

**4.3.3. Self-assembly and membrane functions.** In addition to reconstructing gene networks, reconstructing active macromolecular self-assembly mechanisms and membrane functions are the two most challenging goals of TXTL-based synthetic cells. The cytoskeleton is the focus of many



of the efforts, with the objectives of creating rod-shaped bacteria and a minimal division mechanism. The *E. coli* MreB and FtsZ cytoskeletons has been expressed in liposomes, but the phenotypes have been far from the expected ones. In the case of MreB, filament assembly at the inner membrane was achieved, but no deformation was observed (170). In the case of FtsZ, filament assembly at the membrane was also achieved, but no constriction was observed (171). These findings are somewhat surprising because based on earlier studies using purified proteins (48), all of the necessary proteins are expressed that would make the FtsZ ring. These results demonstrate that recapitulating such biological functions in TXTL-based synthetic cells is far more complicated than expected and that creating self-assembly in liposomes is more challenging than previously thought.

While far from mature, using TXTL to engineer biological functions at the membrane of liposomes is forging ahead, and concrete advances have been made. Although not fully understood, many integral membrane proteins, especially from bacteria, can be expressed in a cell-free system and inserted in active forms into the membranes of liposomes. The partial reconstitution of the *E. coli* secretion system in liposomes using the PURE system (Protein Synthesis Using Recombinant Elements; New England Biolabs) (117) expands the TXTL toolbox. Some synthetic cells are capable of mechanosensitivity (118, 172). Although not reconstituted into liposomes, a mammalian TXTL system was recently used to functionally reconstitute the inner nuclear envelope proteins SUN1 and SUN2 into a bilayer membrane, highlighting the increasing use of TXTL for membrane protein reconstitution (173). Progress is undeniable, even though much work remains to be done to understand how synthetic cells that have multiple, active membrane functions can be developed. How to exploit the biochemical and biophysical properties of membranes, such as lipid composition and curvature, is also largely underexplored, with only few studies touching on these areas (174, 175).

**4.3.4. Metabolism.** TXTL-based synthetic cells depend on the same energy regeneration systems as do batch mode reactions, which consist of a kinase and a phosphate donor (176) and, for some kits, a carbon source. By synthesizing membrane channels, such as  $\alpha$ -hemolysin from *Staphylococcus aureus*, one can feed, and thus extend, TXTL inside liposomes (108, 164). Yet this approach to energy regeneration, although well established and powerful, is not optimal because cell analogs are being developed only in buffers and, thus, they are far from the conditions of natural environments. More elaborate metabolic pathways must be installed to enable the harvesting and conversion of diverse types of energy sources in TXTL systems to improve the robustness of synthetic cells. The first steps toward creating TXTL photosynthetic cells have been taken recently (119), but improvements must be made to transform this approach into a robust energy source capable of fueling compartments for large DNA programs. The integration of several independent ATP regeneration pathways seems critical for developing synthetic cells capable of engaging in simultaneous biological functions and operating robustly in non-ideal laboratory conditions.

While energy regeneration is at the heart of TXTL-based synthetic cells, other metabolic functions have to be addressed concurrently to move toward unicellular self-reproduction. The synthesis of lipids, for instance, comes high on the list of processes that have to be achieved. Thus far, the programmed synthesis of phospholipids by TXTL is not strong enough to be physically visible (148, 149), but the purified protein approach to this pathway (67) supports its feasibility in TXTL.

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

We have outlined in this review the three pillars of research in the broad area of bottom-up cellfree biology: protein-based, nucleic acid-based, and TXTL-based systems. All three branches have

68 Noireaux • Liu



seen significant growth and interest during the past several years and will likely continue to flourish. There is now a broader interest in using the bottom-up construction of synthetic cells as a unifying experimental system. This has led to the formation of several consortia and funding opportunities in Europe and the United States. Notably, the Max Planck Research Network in Synthetic Biology (known as MaxSynBio) started in 2014 and involves nine Max Planck institutes across Germany. In 2017, the Netherlands formed a 17-laboratory group known as Building a Synthetic Cell (or BaSyC). In the United States, the National Science Foundation has funded teams of investigators across multiple disciplines who are working on high-risk, high-reward projects to build synthetic cells. There are also an increasing number of research networks, workshops, and conferences.

While we will continue to see great advances in all branches of cell-free biology, we are particularly upbeat about the utility and potential of TXTL in cell-free biology. TXTL benefits from modern DNA assembly methods to make and execute gene circuits in an environment whose programmability is more flexible than in a living cell. TXTL offers a means to construct biological systems by coupling gene expression to the final product in a manner similar to that of living cells and in a synthetic cytoplasm that emulates physiological conditions. As opposed to using a living chassis, the composition of cell-free reactions is largely accessible, enabling systems to be also interrogated at the biochemical and metabolite levels. The strength, the versatility, and the scalability of newly developed TXTL systems has made this technological tool advantageous. The preparation of lysates, the core of TXTL systems that provide the molecular machineries of transcription and translation, has been demystified, rendering TXTL more accessible to laboratories (176, 177). The rather good agreement between the performance of genetic programs executed in TXTL and in vivo measurements has strengthened the credibility of TXTL. As a consequence, TXTL has transitioned from a protein synthesis accessory to a multidisciplinary tool for engineering biochemical systems with an impressive palette of settings and physical scales (9). TXTL has expanded its scope of applications across synthetic biology (103, 125, 178), biophysics (153, 154, 179), and medicine (180, 181). Finally, the growing usage of TXTL also relies on its ability to offer unparalleled experimental turnover, on its flexibility to rapidly adapt to new settings and substrates, and on its high degree of safety.

Richard Feynman famously wrote on his blackboard in 1988 that "What I cannot create, I do not understand." This has been a driving motivation for many who work in the area of bottom-up synthetic biology. The desire to understand cellular life through a constructive approach necessitates a deep understanding of how natural cells work. Thus, the field will benefit from its close synergy with cell biology and, more broadly, the acceptance of synthetic cells as a model experimental system for engineering and understanding biology. Perhaps, a revision to Feynman's quote is fitting in this instance, "What I do not understand, I cannot create."

## **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review. The Noireaux laboratory receives research funds from Arbor Biosciences, a distributor of the myTXTL cell-free protein synthesis kit.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

IR.

The authors apologize to all investigators whose relevant work could not be cited due to space constraints. The authors acknowledge feedback from Nicholas Stephanopoulos. The authors were supported in the writing of this review by awards from the National Science Foundation to



A.P.L. (grants MCB-1612917, MCB-1817909, CBE-1844132, and EF-1935265) and V.N. (grants MCB-1613677 and EF-1934496), and to V.N. from the Human Frontier Science Program (grant RGP0037/2015).

## LITERATURE CITED

- Schwille P. 2011. Bottom-up synthetic biology: engineering in a tinkerer's world. Science 333(6047):1252– 54
- Jia H, Schwille P. 2019. Bottom-up synthetic biology: reconstitution in space and time. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 6(60):179–87
- Seelig G, Soloveichik D, Zhang DY, Winfree E. 2006. Enzyme-free nucleic acid logic circuits. Science 314(5805):1585–88
- Qian L, Winfree E. 2011. Scaling up digital circuit computation with DNA strand displacement cascades. Science 332(6034):1196–201
- Franco E, Friedrichs E, Kim J, Jungmann R, Murray R, et al. 2011. Timing molecular motion and production with a synthetic transcriptional clock. PNAS 108(40):E784–93
- Green LN, Subramanian HKK, Mardanlou V, Kim J, Hariadi RF, Franco E. 2019. Autonomous dynamic control of DNA nanostructure self-assembly. *Nat. Chem.* 11(6):510–20
- Smith MT, Wilding KM, Hunt JM, Bennett AM, Bundy BC. 2014. The emerging age of cell-free synthetic biology. FEBS Lett. 588(17):2755–61
- Perez JG, Stark JC, Jewett MC. 2016. Cell-free synthetic biology: engineering beyond the cell. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2(2):a023853
- Garenne D, Noireaux V. 2019. Cell-free transcription-translation: engineering biology from the nanometer to the millimeter scale. *Curr: Opin. Biotechnol.* 58:19–27
- 10. Solé RV. 2009. Evolution and self-assembly of protocells. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41(2):274-84
- Noireaux V, Maeda YT, Libchaber A. 2011. Development of an artificial cell, from self-organization to computation and self-reproduction. *PNAS* 108(9):3473–80
- Ding Y, Wu F, Tan C. 2014. Synthetic biology: a bridge between artificial and natural cells. Life 4(4):1092–116
- Tayar AM, Daube SS, Bar-Ziv RH. 2017. Progress in programming spatiotemporal patterns and machine-assembly in cell-free protein expression systems. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 40:37–46
- Liu AP, Fletcher DA. 2009. Biology under construction: in vitro reconstitution of cellular function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10:644–50
- Bashirzadeh Y, Liu AP. 2019. Encapsulation of the cytoskeleton: towards mimicking the mechanics of a cell. Soft Matter 15:8425–36
- Dumont S, Prakash M. 2014. Emergent mechanics of biological structures. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25(22):3461– 65
- Miyata H, Hotani H. 1992. Morphological changes in liposomes caused by polymerization of encapsulated actin and spontaneous formation of actin bundles. *PNAS* 89(23):11547–51
- Loisel TP, Boujemaa R, Pantaloni D, Cartier MF. 1999. Reconstitution of actin-based motility of *Listeria* and *Shigella* using pure proteins. *Nature* 401(6753):613–16
- Liu AP, Fletcher DA. 2006. Actin polymerization serves as a membrane domain switch in model lipid bilayers. *Biophys. J.* 91(11):4064–70
- Liu AP, Richmond DL, Maibaum L, Pronk S, Geissler PL, Fletcher DA. 2008. Membrane-induced bundling of actin filaments. *Nat. Phys.* 4:789–93
- Simon C, Kusters R, Caorsi V, Allard A, Abou-Ghali M, et al. 2019. Actin dynamics drive cell-like membrane deformation. *Nat. Phys.* 15:602–9
- 22. Sonal Ganzinger KA, Vogel SK, Mücksch J, Blumhardt P, Schwille P. 2019. Myosin-II activity generates a dynamic steady state with continuous actin turnover in a minimal actin cortex. *J. Cell Sci.* 132:jcs219899
- Murrell MP, Gardel ML. 2012. F-actin buckling coordinates contractility and severing in a biomimetic actomyosin cortex. PNAS 109(51):20820–25
- 24. Köster DV, Husain K, Iljazi E, Bhat A, Bieling P, et al. 2016. Actomyosin dynamics drive local membrane component organization in an in vitro active composite layer. *PNAS* 113(12):E1646–54

70 Noireaux • Liu

IR I

- Dürre K, Keber FC, Bleicher P, Brauns F, Cyron CJ, et al. 2018. Capping protein-controlled actin polymerization shapes lipid membranes. *Nat. Commun.* 9:1630
- Loiseau E, Schneider JAM, Keber FC, Pelzl C, Massiera G, et al. 2016. Shape remodeling and blebbing of active cytoskeletal vesicles. *Sci. Adv.* 2(4):e1500465
- Guevorkian K, Manzi J, Pontani LL, Brochard-Wyart F, Sykes C. 2015. Mechanics of biomimetic liposomes encapsulating an actin shell. *Biophys. J.* 109(12):2471–79
- Miyazaki M, Chiba M, Eguchi H, Ohki T, Ishiwata S. 2015. Cell-sized spherical confinement induces the spontaneous formation of contractile actomyosin rings in vitro. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17:480–89
- Tsai FC, Stuhrmann B, Koenderink GH. 2011. Encapsulation of active cytoskeletal protein networks in cell-sized liposomes. *Langmuir* 27(16):10061–71
- Carvalho K, Tsai F-C, Lees E, Voituriez R, Koenderink GH, Sykes C. 2013. Cell-sized liposomes reveal how actomyosin cortical tension drives shape change. PNAS 110(41):16456–61
- 31. Abu Shah E, Keren K. 2014. Symmetry breaking in reconstituted actin cortices. eLife 3:e01433
- 32. Tan TH, Malik-Garbi M, Abu-Shah E, Li J, Sharma A, et al. 2018. Self-organized stress patterns drive state transitions in actin cortices. *Sci. Adv.* 4(6):eaar2847
- Vogel SK, Woelfer C, Ramirez DA, Flassig RJ, Sundmacher K, Schwille P. 2019. Emergence of directional actomyosin flows from active matter vibrations. bioRxiv 394700. https://doi.org/10.1101/ 394700
- Weiss M, Frohnmayer JP, Benk LT, Haller B, Janiesch J-W, et al. 2018. Sequential bottom-up assembly of mechanically stabilized synthetic cells by microfluidics. *Nat. Mater.* 17:89–96
- Nédélec FJ, Surrey T, Maggs AC, Leibler S. 1997. Self-organization of microtubules and motors. Nature 389:305–8
- Keber FC, Loiseau E, Sanchez T, DeCamp SJ, Giomi L, et al. 2014. Topology and dynamics of active nematic vesicles. *Science* 345(6201):1135–39
- Kinoshita K, Arnal I, Desai A, Drechsel DN, Hyman AA. 2001. Reconstitution of physiological microtubule dynamics using purified components. *Science* 294(5545):1340–43
- Roostalu J, Rickman J, Thomas C, Nédélec F, Surrey T. 2018. Determinants of polar versus nematic organization in networks of dynamic microtubules and mitotic motors. *Cell* 175(3):796–808
- Volkov VA, Huis In 't Veld PJ, Dogterom M, Musacchio A. 2018. Mutivalency of NDC80 in the outer kinetochore is essential to track shortening microtubules and generate forces. *eLife* 7:e36764
- Huis In 't Veld PJ, Volkov VA, Stender ID, Musacchio A, Dogterom M. 2019. Molecular determinants of the Ska-Ndc80 interaction and their influence on microtubule tracking and force-coupling. *eLife* 8:e49539
- Good MC, Vahey MD, Skandarajah A, Fletcher DA, Heald R. 2013. Cytoplasmic volume modulates spindle size during embryogenesis. *Science* 342(6160):856–60
- Hazel J, Krutkramelis K, Mooney P, Tomschik M, Gerow K, et al. 2013. Changes in cytoplasmic volume are sufficient to drive spindle scaling. *Science* 342(6160):853–56
- Suzuki K, Miyazaki M, Takagi J, Itabashi T, Ishiwata S. 2017. Spatial confinement of active microtubule networks induces large-scale rotational cytoplasmic flow. PNAS 114(11):2922–27
- López MP, Huber F, Grigoriev I, Steinmetz MO, Akhmanova A, et al. 2014. Actin–microtubule coordination at growing microtubule ends. *Nat. Commun.* 5:4778
- Garner EC, Campbell CS, Mullins RD. 2004. Dynamic instability in a DNA-segregating prokaryotic actin homolog. Science 306(5698):1021–25
- Hwang LC, Vecchiarelli AG, Han YW, Mizuuchi M, Harada Y, et al. 2013. ParA-mediated plasmid partition driven by protein pattern self-organization. *EMBO J*. 32(9):1238–49
- Hussain S, Wivagg CN, Szwedziak P, Wong F, Schaefer K, et al. 2018. MreB filaments align along greatest principal membrane curvature to orient cell wall synthesis. *eLife* 7:e32471
- Osawa M, Anderson DE, Erickson HP. 2008. Reconstitution of contractile FtsZ rings in liposomes. Science 320(5877):792–94
- Jiménez M, Martos A, Vicente M, Rivas G. 2011. Reconstitution and organization of *Escherichia coli* proto-ring elements (FtsZ and FtsA) inside giant unilamellar vesicles obtained from bacterial inner membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286(13):11236–41

www.annualreviews.org • The New Age of Cell-Free Biology 71



- Loose M, Mitchison TJ. 2014. The bacterial cell division proteins FtsA and FtsZ self-organize into dynamic cytoskeletal patterns. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 16:38–46
- Ramirez-Diaz DA, García-Soriano DA, Raso A, Mücksch J, Feingold M, et al. 2018. Treadmilling analysis reveals new insights into dynamic FtsZ ring architecture. *PLOS Biol.* 16(5):e2004845
- Mizuuchi K, Vecchiarelli AG. 2018. Mechanistic insights of the Min oscillator via cell-free reconstitution and imaging. *Phys. Biol.* 15(3):031001
- Loose M, Fischer-Friedrich E, Ries J, Kruse K, Schwille P. 2008. Spatial regulators for bacterial cell division self-organize into surface waves in vitro. *Science* 320(5877):789–92
- Vecchiarelli AG, Li M, Mizuuchi M, Hwang LC, Seol Y, et al. 2016. Membrane-bound MinDE complex acts as a toggle switch that drives Min oscillation coupled to cytoplasmic depletion of MinD. PNAS 113(11):E1479–88
- Zieske K, Schwille P. 2014. Reconstitution of self-organizing protein gradients as spatial cues in cell-free systems. *eLife* 3:e04949
- Caspi Y, Dekker C. 2016. Mapping out Min protein patterns in fully confined fluidic chambers. *eLife* 5:e19271
- Litschel T, Ramm B, Maas R, Heymann M, Schwille P. 2018. Beating vesicles: encapsulated protein oscillations cause dynamic membrane deformations. *Angew. Chem.* 57(50):16286–90
- Nakajima M, Imai K, Ito H, Nishiwaki T, Murayama Y, et al. 2005. Reconstitution of circadian oscillation of cyanobacterial KaiC phosphorylation in vitro. Science 308(5720):414–15
- Leypunskiy E, Lin J, Yoo H, Lee U, Dinner AR, Rust MJ. 2017. The cyanobacterial circadian clock follows midday in vivo and in vitro. *eLife* 6:e23539
- Guan Y, Li Z, Wang S, Barnes PM, Liu X, et al. 2018. A robust and tunable mitotic oscillator in artificial cells. *eLife* 7:e33549
- McMahon HT, Gallop JL. 2005. Membrane curvature and mechanisms of dynamic cell membrane remodelling. *Nature* 438(7068):590–96
- Pucadyil TJ, Schmid SL. 2008. Real-time visualization of dynamin-catalyzed membrane fission and vesicle release. *Cell* 135:1263–75
- 63. Saleem M, Morlot S, Hohendahl A, Manzi J, Lenz M, Roux A. 2015. A balance between membrane elasticity and polymerization energy sets the shape of spherical clathrin coats. *Nat. Commun.* 6:6249
- Wollert T, Wunder C, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Hurley JH. 2009. Membrane scission by the ESCRT-III complex. Nature 458(7235):172–77
- Chiaruttini N, Redondo-Morata L, Colom A, Humbert F, Lenz M, et al. 2015. Relaxation of loaded ESCRT-III spiral springs drives membrane deformation. *Cell* 163(4):866–79
- Schöneberg J, Pavlin MR, Yan S, Righini M, Lee IH, et al. 2018. ATP-dependent force generation and membrane scission by ESCRT-III and Vps4. *Science* 362(6421):1423–28
- Exterkate M, Caforio A, Stuart MCA, Driessen AJM. 2018. Growing membranes in vitro by continuous phospholipid biosynthesis from free fatty acids. ACS Synth. Biol. 7(1):153–65
- Bhattacharya A, Brea RJ, Niederholtmeyer H, Devaraj NK. 2019. A minimal biochemical route towards de novo formation of synthetic phospholipid membranes. *Nat. Commun.* 10:300
- Shin JS, Pierce NA. 2004. A synthetic DNA walker for molecular transport. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126(35):10834–35
- Omabegho T, Sha R, Seeman NC. 2009. A bipedal DNA Brownian motor with coordinated legs. Science 324(5923):67–71
- Venkataraman S, Dirks RM, Rothemund PWK, Winfree E, Pierce NA. 2007. An autonomous polymerization motor powered by DNA hybridization. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2:490–94
- Zhang Y, McMullen A, Pontani LL, He X, Sha R, et al. 2017. Sequential self-assembly of DNA functionalized droplets. *Nat. Commun.* 8:21
- 73. Parolini L, Mognetti BM, Kotar J, Eiser E, Cicuta P, Di Michele L. 2015. Volume and porosity thermal regulation in lipid mesophases by coupling mobile ligands to soft membranes. *Nat. Commun.* 6:5948
- Kurokawa C, Fujiwara K, Morita M, Kawamata I, Kawagishi Y, et al. 2017. DNA cytoskeleton for stabilizing artificial cells. PNAS 114(28):7228–33

72 Noireaux • Liu



- Joesaar A, Yang S, Bögels B, van der Linden A, Pieters P, et al. 2019. DNA-based communication in populations of synthetic protocells. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 14:369–78
- Rothemund PWK. 2006. Folding DNA to create nanoscale shapes and patterns. *Nature* 440(7082):297– 302
- 77. Douglas SM, Dietz H, Liedl T, Hogberg B, Graf F, Shih WM. 2009. Self-assembly of DNA into nanoscale three-dimensional shapes. *Nature* 459:414–18
- Dietz H, Douglas SM, Shih WM. 2009. Folding DNA into twisted and curved nanoscale shapes. Science 325(5941):5–30
- Woo S, Rothemund PWK. 2011. Programmable molecular recognition based on the geometry of DNA nanostructures. *Nature Chem.* 3:620–27
- Gerling T, Wagenbauer KF, Neuner AM, Dietz H. 2015. Dynamic DNA devices and assemblies formed by shape-complementary, non-base pairing 3D components. *Science* 347(6229):1446–52
- Daljit Singh JK, Luu MT, Abbas A, Wickham SFJ. 2018. Switchable DNA-origami nanostructures that respond to their environment and their applications. *Biophys. Rev.* 10(5):1283–93
- Wei B, Dai M, Yin P. 2012. Complex shapes self-assembled from single-stranded DNA tiles. *Nature* 485:623–26
- Ke Y, Ong LL, Shih WM, Yin P. 2012. Three-dimensional structures self-assembled from DNA bricks. Science 338(6111):1177–83
- Langecker M, Arnaut V, Martin TG, List J, Renner S, et al. 2012. Synthetic lipid membrane channels formed by designed DNA nanostructures. *Science* 338(6109):932–36
- Göpfrich K, Li CY, Ricci M, Bhamidimarri SP, Yoo J, et al. 2016. Large-conductance transmembrane porin made from DNA origami. ACS Nano 10(9):8207–14
- Yang Y, Wang J, Shigematsu H, Xu W, Shih WM, et al. 2016. Self-assembly of size-controlled liposomes on DNA nanotemplates. *Nat. Chem.* 8:476–83
- Zhang Z, Yang Y, Pincet F, Llaguno MC, Lin C. 2017. Placing and shaping liposomes with reconfigurable DNA nanocages. *Nat. Chem.* 9:653–59
- Franquelim HG, Khmelinskaia A, Sobczak JP, Dietz H, Schwille P. 2018. Membrane sculpting by curved DNA origami scaffolds. *Nat. Commun.* 9:811
- Ke G, Liu M, Jiang S, Qi X, Yang YR, et al. 2016. Directional regulation of enzyme pathways through the control of substrate channeling on a DNA origami scaffold. *Angew. Chem.* 55(26):7483–86
- Zadorin AS, Rondelez Y, Gines G, Dilhas V, Urtel G, et al. 2017. Synthesis and materialization of a reaction–diffusion French flag pattern. *Nat. Chem.* 9:990–96
- Chatterjee G, Dalchau N, Muscat RA, Phillips A, Seelig G. 2017. A spatially localized architecture for fast and modular DNA computing. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 12:920–27
- Srinivas N, Parkin J, Seelig G, Winfree E, Soloveichik D. 2017. Enzyme-free nucleic acid dynamical systems. *Science* 358(6369):eaal2052
- Kim J, White KS, Winfree E. 2006. Construction of an in vitro bistable circuit from synthetic transcriptional switches. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 2:68
- 94. Kim J, Winfree E. 2011. Synthetic in vitro transcriptional oscillators. Mol. Syst. Biol. 7:465
- Weitz M, Kim J, Kapsner K, Winfree E, Franco E, Simmel FC. 2014. Diversity in the dynamical behaviour of a compartmentalized programmable biochemical oscillator. *Nat. Chem.* 6:295–302
- Baccouche A, Montagne K, Padirac A, Fujii T, Rondelez Y. 2014. Dynamic DNA-toolbox reaction circuits: a walkthrough. *Methods* 67(2):234–49
- 97. Montagne K, Plasson R, Sakai Y, Fujii T, Rondelez Y. 2011. Programming an in vitro DNA oscillator using a molecular networking strategy. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 7:466
- Gines G, Zadorin AS, Galas JC, Fujii T, Estevez-Torres A, Rondelez Y. 2017. Microscopic agents programmed by DNA circuits. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 12:351–59
- 99. Ishihama Y, Schmidt T, Rappsilber J, Mann M, Harlt FU, et al. 2008. Protein abundance profiling of the *Escherichia coli* cytosol. *BMC Genom.* 9:102
- Kigawa T, Yabuki T, Matsuda N, Matsuda T, Nakajima R, et al. 2004. Preparation of *Escherichia coli* cell extract for highly productive cell-free protein expression. *J. Struct. Funct. Genom.* 5(1–2):63–68

www.annualreviews.org • The New Age of Cell-Free Biology 73



- Nirenberg MW, Matthaei JH. 1961. The dependence of cell-free protein synthesis in *E. coli* upon naturally occurring or synthetic polyribonucleotides. *PNAS* 47(10):1588–602
- Caschera F, Noireaux V. 2015. A cost-effective polyphosphate-based metabolism fuels an all *E. coli* cellfree expression system. *Metab. Eng.* 27:29–37
- Jewett MC, Calhoun KA, Voloshin A, Wuu JJ, Swartz JR. 2008. An integrated cell-free metabolic platform for protein production and synthetic biology. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 4:220
- 104. Caschera F, Noireaux V. 2014. Synthesis of 2.3 mg/ml of protein with an all *Escherichia coli* cell-free transcription–translation system. *Biochimie* 99:162–68
- Kai L, Roos C, Haberstock S, Proverbio D, Ma Y, et al. 2012. Systems for the cell-free synthesis of proteins. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 800:201–25
- Foshag D, Henrich E, Hiller E, Schäfer M, Kerger C, et al. 2018. The *E. coli* S30 lysate proteome: a prototype for cell-free protein production. *New Biotechnol.* 40:245–60
- Garenne D, Beisel CL, Noireaux V. 2019. Characterization of the all-*E. coli* transcription-translation system myTXTL by mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 33(11):1036–48
- Garamella J, Marshall R, Rustad M, Noireaux V. 2016. The all *E. coli* TX-TL Toolbox 2.0: a platform for cell-free synthetic biology. *ACS Synth. Biol.* 5(4):344–55
- Vilkhovoy M, Horvath N, Shih CH, Wayman JA, Calhoun K, et al. 2018. Sequence specific modeling of *E. coli* cell-free protein synthesis. *ACS Synth. Biol.* 7(8):1844–57
- Shin J, Noireaux V. 2012. An E. coli cell-free expression toolbox: application to synthetic gene circuits and artificial cells. ACS Synth. Biol. 1(1):29–41
- Chappell J, Jensen K, Freemont PS. 2013. Validation of an entirely in vitro approach for rapid prototyping of DNA regulatory elements for synthetic biology. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41(5):3471–81
- 112. Shin J, Jardine P, Noireaux V. 2012. Genome replication, synthesis, and assembly of the bacteriophage T7 in a single cell-free reaction. *ACS Synth. Biol.* 1(9):408–13
- 113. Rustad M, Eastlund A, Marshall R, Jardine P, Noireaux V. 2017. Synthesis of infectious bacteriophages in an *E. coli*-based cell-free expression system. *J. Vis. Exp.* 126:e56144
- 114. Westbrook A, Tang X, Marshall R, Maxwell CS, Chappell J, et al. 2019. Distinct timescales of RNA regulators enable the construction of a genetic pulse generator. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 116(5):1139–51
- 115. Rues RB, Henrich E, Boland C, Caffrey M, Bernhard F. 2016. Cell-free production of membrane proteins in *Escherichia coli* lysates for functional and structural studies. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1432:1–21
- 116. Rues RB, Gräwe A, Henrich E, Bernhard F. 2017. Membrane protein production in *E. coli* lysates in presence of preassembled nanodiscs. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1586:291–312
- 117. Matsubayashi H, Kuruma Y, Ueda T. 2014. In vitro synthesis of the *E. coli* Sec translocon from DNA. *Angew. Chem.* 53(29):7535–38
- Majumder S, Garamella J, Wang YL, Denies M, Noireaux V, Liu AP. 2017. Cell-sized mechanosensitive and biosensing compartment programmed with DNA. *Chem. Commun.* 53(53):7349–52
- 119. Berhanu S, Ueda T, Kuruma Y. 2019. Artificial photosynthetic cell producing energy for protein synthesis. *Nat. Commun.* 10:1325
- Ho KKY, Lee JW, Durand G, Majumder S, Liu AP. 2017. Protein aggregation with poly(vinyl) alcohol surfactant reduces double emulsion-encapsulated mammalian cell-free expression. *PLOS ONE* 12(3):e0174689
- Goerke AR, Swartz JR. 2008. Development of cell-free protein synthesis platforms for disulfide bonded proteins. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 99(2):351–67
- 122. Jaroentomeechai T, Stark JC, Natarajan A, Glasscock CJ, Yates LE, et al. 2018. Single-pot glycoprotein biosynthesis using a cell-free transcription-translation system enriched with glycosylation machinery. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2686
- 123. Brödel AK, Wüstenhagen DA, Kubick S. 2014. Cell-free protein synthesis systems derived from cultured mammalian cells. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1261:129–40
- 124. Chemla Y, Ozer E, Schlesinger O, Noireaux V, Alfonta L. 2015. Genetically expanded cell-free protein synthesis using endogenous pyrrolysyl orthogonal translation system. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 112(8):1663– 72

IR I

- 125. Martin RW, Des Soye BJ, Kwon YC, Kay J, Davis RG, et al. 2018. Cell-free protein synthesis from genomically recoded bacteria enables multisite incorporation of noncanonical amino acids. *Nat. Commun.* 9:1203
- 126. Doerr A, de Reus E, van Nies P, van der Haar M, Wei K, et al. 2019. Modelling cell-free RNA and protein synthesis with minimal systems. *Phys. Biol.* 16(2):025001
- 127. Moore SJ, MacDonald JT, Wienecke S, Ishwarbhai A, Tsipa A, et al. 2018. Rapid acquisition and model-based analysis of cell-free transcription-translation reactions from nonmodel bacteria. PNAS 115(19):E4340–49
- Failmezger J, Scholz S, Blombach B, Siemann-Herzberg M. 2018. Cell-free protein synthesis from fastgrowing Vibrio natriegens. Front. Microbiol. 9:1146
- Des Soye BJ, Davidson SR, Weinstock MT, Gibson DG, Jewett MC. 2018. Establishing a high-yielding cell-free protein synthesis platform derived from *Vibrio natriegens. ACS Synth. Biol.* 7(9):2245–55
- Moore SJ, Lai HE, Needham H, Polizzi KM, Freemont PS. 2017. Streptomyces venezuelae TX-TL—a next generation cell-free synthetic biology tool. Biotechnol. J. 12(4):1600678
- 131. Kelwick R, Webb AJ, MacDonald JT, Freemont PS. 2016. Development of a *Bacillus subtilis* cell-free transcription–translation system for prototyping regulatory elements. *Metab. Eng.* 38:370–81
- Buntru M, Vogel S, Stoff K, Spiegel H, Schillberg S. 2015. A versatile coupled cell-free transcription– translation system based on tobacco BY-2 cell lysates. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 112(5):867–78
- Stech M, Quast RB, Sachse R, Schulze C, Wüstenhagen DA, Kubick S. 2014. A continuous-exchange cell-free protein synthesis system based on extracts from cultured insect cells. *PLOS ONE* 9(5):e96635
- Gan R, Jewett MC. 2014. A combined cell-free transcription-translation system from Saccharomyces cerevisiae for rapid and robust protein synthesis. Biotechnol. J. 9(5):641–51
- Collias D, Marshall R, Collins SP, Beisel CL, Noireaux V. 2019. An educational module to explore CRISPR technologies with a cell-free transcription-translation system. *Synth. Biol.* 4(1):ysz005
- 136. Stark JC, Huang A, Hsu KJ, Dubner RS, Forbrook J, et al. 2019. BioBits Health: classroom activities exploring engineering, biology, and human health with fluorescent readouts. ACS Synth. Biol. 8(5):1001– 9
- Sun ZZ, Yeung E, Hayes CA, Noireaux V, Murray RM. 2014. Linear DNA for rapid prototyping of synthetic biological circuits in an *Escherichia coli* based TX-TL cell-free system. *ACS Synth. Biol.* 3(6):387– 97
- Takahashi MK, Hayes CA, Chappell J, Sun ZZ, Murray RM, et al. 2015. Characterizing and prototyping genetic networks with cell-free transcription–translation reactions. *Methods* 86:60–72
- De Los Santos ELC, Meyerowitz JT, Mayo SL, Murray RM. 2016. Engineering transcriptional regulator effector specificity using computational design and in vitro rapid prototyping: developing a vanillin sensor. ACS Synth. Biol. 5(4):287–95
- Marshall R, Maxwell CS, Collins SP, Jacobsen T, Luo ML, et al. 2018. Rapid and scalable characterization of CRISPR technologies using an *E. coli* cell-free transcription-translation system. *Mol. Cell.* 69(1):146–57
- Wandera KG, Collins SP, Wimmer F, Marshall R, Noireaux V, Beisel CL. 2019. An enhanced assay to characterize anti-CRISPR proteins using a cell-free transcription-translation system. *Methods*. In press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2019.05.014
- Wojtkowiak D, Georgopoulos C, Zylicz M. 1993. Isolation and characterization of ClpX, a new ATPdependent specificity component of the Clp protease of *Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem.* 268(30):22609–17
- 143. Niederholtmeyer H, Sun ZZ, Hori Y, Yeung E, Verpoorte A, et al. 2015. Rapid cell-free forward engineering of novel genetic ring oscillators. *eLife* 4:e09771
- Karzbrun E, Tayar AM, Noireaux V, Bar-Ziv RH. 2014. Programmable on-chip DNA compartments as artificial cells. Science 345(6198):829–32
- Caschera F, Karim AS, Gazzola G, D'Aquino AE, Packard NH, Jewett MC. 2018. High-throughput optimization cycle of a cell-free ribosome assembly and protein synthesis system. ACS Synth. Biol. 7(12):2841–53
- 146. Rustad M, Eastlund A, Jardine P, Noireaux V. 2018. Cell-free TXTL synthesis of infectious bacteriophage T4 in a single test tube reaction. *Synth. Biol.* 3(1):ysy002

www.annualreviews.org • The New Age of Cell-Free Biology 75



- 147. Van Nies P, Westerlaken I, Blanken D, Salas M, Mencía M, Danelon C. 2018. Self-replication of DNA by its encoded proteins in liposome-based synthetic cells. *Nat. Commun.* 9:1583
- Kuruma Y, Stano P, Ueda T, Luisi PL. 2009. A synthetic biology approach to the construction of membrane proteins in semi-synthetic minimal cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr.* 1788(2):567–74
- Scott A, Noga MJ, De Graaf P, Westerlaken I, Yildirim E, Danelon C. 2016. Cell-free phospholipid biosynthesis by gene-encoded enzymes reconstituted in liposomes. *PLOS ONE* 11(10):e0163058
- Kay JE, Jewett MC. 2015. Lysate of engineered *Escherichia coli* supports high-level conversion of glucose to 2,3-butanediol. *Metab. Eng.* 32:133–42
- Majumder S, Wubshet N, Liu AP. 2019. Encapsulation of complex solutions using droplet microfluidics towards the synthesis of artificial cells. *J. Micromechanics Microengineering* 29:083001
- 152. Supramaniam P, CES O, Salehi-Reyhani A. 2019. Microfluidics for artificial life: techniques for bottomup synthetic biology. *Micromachines* 10(5):E299
- Tayar AM, Karzbrun E, Noireaux V, Bar-Ziv RH. 2017. Synchrony and pattern formation of coupled genetic oscillators on a chip of artificial cells. *PNAS* 114(44):11609–14
- Tayar AM, Karzbrun E, Noireaux V, Bar-Ziv RH. 2015. Propagating gene expression fronts in a onedimensional coupled system of artificial cells. *Nat. Phys.* 11:1037–41
- Gerber D, Maerkl SJ, Quake SR. 2009. An in vitro microfluidic approach to generating proteininteraction networks. *Nat. Methods* 6(1):71–74
- Fordyce PM, Gerber D, Tran D, Zheng J, Li H, et al. 2010. De novo identification and biophysical characterization of transcription-factor binding sites with microfluidic affinity analysis. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 28(9):970–75
- 157. Einav S, Gerber D, Bryson PD, Sklan EH, Elazar M, et al. 2008. Discovery of a hepatitis C target and its pharmacological inhibitors by microfluidic affinity analysis. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26(9):1019–27
- Glick Y, Ben-Ari Y, Drayman N, Pellach M, Neveu G, et al. 2016. Pathogen receptor discovery with a microfluidic human membrane protein array. *PNAS* 113(16):4344–49
- Kipper S, Frolov L, Guy O, Pellach M, Glick Y, et al. 2017. Control and automation of multilayered integrated microfluidic device fabrication. *Lab Chip* 17:557–66
- Jacobs ML, Boyd MA, Kamat NP. 2019. Diblock copolymers enhance folding of a mechanosensitive membrane protein during cell-free expression. *PNAS* 116(10):4031–36
- Vogele K, Frank T, Gasser L, Goetzfried MA, Hackl MW, et al. 2018. Towards synthetic cells using peptide-based reaction compartments. *Nat. Commun.* 9:3862
- Dupin A, Simmel FC. 2019. Signalling and differentiation in emulsion-based multi-compartmentalized in vitro gene circuits. *Nat. Chem.* 4:e09771
- Efrat Y, Tayar AM, Daube SS, Levy M, Bar-Ziv RH. 2018. Electric-field manipulation of a compartmentalized cell-free gene expression reaction. ACS Synth. Biol. 7(8):1829–33
- Noireaux V, Libchaber A. 2004. A vesicle bioreactor as a step toward an artificial cell assembly. PNAS 101(51):17669–74
- Oberholzer T, Nierhaus KH, Luisi PL. 1999. Protein expression in liposomes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 261(2):238–41
- Ishikawa K, Sato K, Shima Y, Urabe I, Yomo T. 2004. Expression of a cascading genetic network within liposomes. *FEBS Lett.* 576(3):387–90
- Adamala KP, Martin-Alarcon DA, Guthrie-Honea KR, Boyden ES. 2017. Engineering genetic circuit interactions within and between synthetic minimal cells. *Nat. Chem.* 9:431–39
- Stano P. 2019. Gene expression inside liposomes: from early studies to current protocols. *Chemistry* 25(33):7798–814
- Lentini R, Martín NY, Forlin M, Belmonte L, Fontana J, et al. 2017. Two-way chemical communication between artificial and natural cells. ACS Cent. Sci. 3(2):117–23
- Maeda YT, Nakadai T, Shin J, Uryu K, Noireaux V, Libchaber A. 2012. Assembly of MreB filaments on liposome membranes: a synthetic biology approach. ACS Synth. Biol. 1(2):53–59
- 171. Furusato T, Horie F, Matsubayashi HT, Amikura K, Kuruma Y, Ueda T. 2018. De novo synthesis of basal bacterial cell division proteins FtsZ, FtsA, and ZipA inside giant vesicles. ACS Synth. Biol. 7(4):953– 61

76 Noireaux • Liu

IR I

- Garamella J, Majumder S, Liu AP, Noireaux V. 2019. An adaptive synthetic cell based on mechanosensing, biosensing, and inducible gene circuits. ACS Synth. Biol. 8(8):1913–20
- 173. Majumder S, Willey PT, DeNies MS, Liu AP, Luxton GWG. 2019. A synthetic biology platform for the reconstitution and mechanistic dissection of LINC complex assembly. *J. Cell Sci.* 132:jcs219451
- 174. Fujii S, Matsuura T, Yomo T. 2015. Membrane curvature affects the formation of α-hemolysin nanopores. ACS Chem. Biol. 10(7):1694–701
- Nishimura K, Matsuura T, Nishimura K, Sunami T, Suzuki H, Yomo T. 2012. Cell-free protein synthesis inside giant unilamellar vesicles analyzed by flow cytometry. *Langmuir* 28(22):8426–32
- Dopp JL, Tamiev DD, Reuel NF. 2019. Cell-free supplement mixtures: elucidating the history and biochemical utility of additives used to support in vitro protein synthesis in *E. coli* extract. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 37(1):246–58
- 177. Sun ZZ, Hayes CA, Shin J, Caschera F, Murray RM, Noireaux V. 2013. Protocols for implementing an escherichia coli based TX-TL cell-free expression system for synthetic biology. *J. Vis. Exp.* 79:e50762
- 178. Gräwe A, Dreyer A, Vornholt T, Barteczko U, Buchholz L, et al. 2019. A paper-based, cell-free biosensor system for the detection of heavy metals and date rape drugs. *PLOS ONE* 14(3):e0210940
- 179. Wang S, Majumder S, Emery NJ, Liu AP. 2018. Simultaneous monitoring of transcription and translation in mammalian cell-free expression in bulk and in cell-sized droplets. *Synth. Biol.* 3(1):ysy005
- Lu Y, Chan W, Ko BY, VanLang CC, Swartz JR. 2015. Assessing sequence plasticity of a viruslike nanoparticle by evolution toward a versatile scaffold for vaccines and drug delivery. *PNAS* 112(40):12360–65
- Pardee K, Green AA, Takahashi MK, Braff D, Lambert G, et al. 2016. Rapid, low-cost detection of Zika virus using programmable biomolecular components. *Cell* 165(5):1255–66

